NO. 19-AP-1240

## **RECEIVED**

09-24-2019

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS **DISTRICT II**

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS **OF WISCONSIN** 

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

### LOIS M. BERTRAND,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Waukesha County The Honorable Judge Michael P. Maxwell Presiding Case No. 18-CT-1220

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, LOIS M. BERTRAND

JOHN M. BINDER State Bar No. 1107890

DONNA J. KUCHLER State Bar No. 1023587

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

**KUCHLER & COTTON, S.C.** 

1535 E. Racine Ave. Waukesha, WI 53186 T: (262) 542-4218 F: (262) 542-1993

##

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Absent a warrant or an exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement, is a search and seizure inside a person's home—specifically, the attached garage—unreasonable?

Circuit Court's Answer: failed to address this issue. Correct Answer: Yes.

2. Absent any impaired driving or physical observations of impairment, was the uncorroborated third-hand knowledge of the odor of alcohol on Ms. Bertrand's breath alone sufficient to support reasonable suspicion to seize her?

Circuit Court's Answer: Yes. Correct Answer: No.

3. Was the alleged odor of alcohol on Ms. Bertrand's breath alone sufficient to extend her detention and request that she perform field sobriety tests?

Circuit Court's Answer: Yes.

Correct Answer: No.

#### ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Ms. Bertrand welcomes oral argument and publication.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### I. Factual Background.

In this OWI case, Officer Duerwachter detained Ms. Bertrand in the most sacred area governed by the Fourth Amendment: the home. (R.41:22-24; App.22-24). Based on uncorroborated third-hand knowledge of the alleged odor of alcohol on Ms. Bertrand's breath, Off. Duerwachter parked his squad car behind Ms. Bertrand's car, which she parked in her garage. (R.41:17, 22-24; App.17, 22-24). Off. Duerwachter then entered—without a warrant—the attached garage to Ms. Bertrand's home, spoke to Ms. Bertrand inside her garage, and then grabbed her arm as she reached for the door to enter her home's interior. (R.41:25-28, 30; App.25-28, 30). He did not let her enter. (R.41:29; App.29). The search and seizure were unreasonable.

The OWI investigation started with a complaint by a school employee. (R.41:17; App.17). On September 6, 2018, Ms. Bertrand picked up her son from school because he missed the bus. (R.41:4-5, 8, App.4-5, 8). While Ms. Bertrand was at the school, a school employee allegedly smelled the odor of alcohol on Ms. Bertrand's breath. (R.41:17; App.17). Off. Duerwachter did not speak with that employee. (R.41:17; App.17). Rather, the employee reported the alleged odor of alcohol to her supervisor, who then conveyed that information to the school principal. (R.41:17; App.17). The school then contacted the police. (R.41:16; App.16). Off. Duerwachter was dispatched to the school and spoke only with the school principal. (R.41:16; App.16). He did not speak to the person who allegedly smelled alcohol on Ms. Bertrand's breath or that person's supervisor. (R.41:16; App.16). There were no reports of impaired driving nor of physical impairment, i.e., no slow or slurred speech and no bloodshot or glassy eyes. (R.41:19-21, 29; App.19-21, 29).

Off. Duerwachter drove to Ms. Bertrand's address and waited in his squad car in front of her house. (R.41:22; App.22). During that time, Off. Duerwachter called Ms. Bertrand and spoke to her. (R.41:18; App.18). During the telephone conversation, Off. Duerwachter did not notice any signs of impairment—no slurred or slow speech or any type of discussion indicative of intoxication. (R.41:19-21; App.19-21). Eventually, the phone disconnected and Off. Duerwachter called Ms. Bertrand again but did not speak to her directly. (R.41:19: App.19). This second phone call involved Off. Duerwachter listening to a conversation between Ms. Bertrand and her son and later between Ms.

Bertrand and her ex-husband. (R.41:19-21; App.19-21). Off. Duerwachter heard a "general conversation about school and other matters"—a "normal conversation" in which "[Ms. Bertrand's] speech sounded normal to [Off. Duerwachter]." (R.41:19-20; App.19-20). Off. Duerwachter did not testify that, during the conversation between Ms. Bertrand and her ex-husband, he heard any mention of alcohol. (R.41:20-21; App.20-21). Similarly, Ms. Bertrand's ex-husband did not tell Ms. Bertrand that he thought she was impaired or intoxicated. (R.41:20-21; App.20-21). Off. Duerwachter's investigation should have ended there. It did not. Instead, he called Ms. Bertrand's exhusband, who reported that he was angry because the school contacted Ms. Bertrand and not him for pickup because he has primary custody of their son. (R.41:21-22; App.21-22). When Off. Duerwachter spoke with Ms. Bertrand's ex-husband, he did not report smelling alcohol on Ms. Bertrand's breath. (R.41:30; App.30).

Eventually, Off. Duerwachter observed Ms. Bertrand drive her car into her garage. (R.41:29; App.29). There was no impaired driving. (R.41:29; App.29). He then pulled his squad car into her driveway and parked behind her car, blocking her inside. (R.41:17, 22-24; App.17, 22-24). Without a warrant, Off. Duerwachter entered the attached garage to her home, spoke to Ms. Bertrand, and grabbed her arm as she reached for the door to enter her house. (R.41:27-28, 30; App.27-28, 30). He did not let her enter. (R.41:29; App.29).

During Off. Duerwachter's initial encounter with Ms. Bertrand in her garage (they were both inside the garage), but prior to him grabbing her arm, she denied any consumption of alcohol that day. (R.41:24-25; App.24-25). Also during this time, Ms. Bertrand "answered all of [Off. Duerwachter's] questions appropriately," and Off. Duerwachter did not observe any slurred speech by Ms. Bertrand or anything else of concern. (R.41:30-31; App.30-31).

While still in the garage, Ms. Bertrand reached for and placed her hand on the handle of the door that led to her home's interior. (R.41:27; App.27). Off. Duerwachter grabbed Ms. Bertrand's left arm to prevent her from entering. (R.41:27; App.27). It was only after Off. Duerwachter grabbed Ms. Bertrand's arm in her garage that he allegedly smelled the odor of alcohol on her breath. (R.41:9-10, 30-31; App.9-10, 30-31). Similarly, it was after Off. Duerwachter grabbed Ms. Bertrand's arm that she removed her sun glasses and he allegedly observed her eyes to be glassy and bloodshot. (R.41:10; App.10).

After Off. Duerwachter grabbed Ms. Bertrand's arm in her garage, he ordered that she perform field sobriety tests, which she performed. (R.41:10; App.10). Off. Duerwachter administered a preliminary breath test to Ms. Bertrand and arrested her for OWI. (R.41:14; App.14). A blood draw was later conducted. (R.13:1-4).

#### II. Procedural Background.

On September 11, 2018, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Ms. Bertrand with OWI (2<sup>nd</sup> w/ Passenger < 16 Yrs Old) (Count 1). (R.1:1-3). On December 5, 2018, the State filed an amended criminal complaint charging Ms. Bertrand with operating with a PAC (2<sup>nd</sup> w/ Passenger < 16 Yrs) (Count 2). (R.13:1-4).

On December 4, 2018, Ms. Bertrand filed her Notice of Motion and Motion to Suppress Fruits of Unreasonable Search and Seizure. (R.11:1-6). The State did not respond to it in writing.

On February 1, 2019, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on Ms. Bertrand's motion to suppress. (R.41; App.1). Officer Bradley Duerwachter was the State's only witness at the hearing. (R.41:2; App.2). During oral argument, Ms. Bertrand argued that the officer unreasonably seized Ms. Bertrand when he detained her in her garage and that the officer's entry into her garage was a trespass, i.e., an unreasonable search. (R.41:37, 41; App.37, 41). The State did not argue exigent circumstances nor any other exception to the warrant requirement to justify the warrantless search and seizure. (R.41:34-37; App.34-37). After oral arguments by the parties, the circuit court took the matter under advisement. (R.41:44; App.44).

On March 11, 2019, the circuit court gave its oral ruling on Ms. Bertrand's motion to suppress, during which it denied Ms. Bertrand's suppression motion. (R.42:1-9; App.47-56). In its oral ruling, the circuit court failed to address Ms. Bertrand's argument that the officer conducted an unreasonable search (trespass) when he entered Ms. Bertrand's garage and that the officer did not have a warrant to seize Ms. Bertrand inside her garage. (R.42:1-9; App.47-56).

On May 9, 2019, Ms. Bertrand pled guilty to Count 1 and the circuit court dismissed Count 2. (R.31:1-2). On July 3, 2019, the circuit court sentenced Ms. Bertrand. (R.31:1-2). On that same day, Ms. Bertrand filed her Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief and her Notice of Appeal. (R.27:1-2, 28:1). This appeal follows.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's order granting or denying a suppression motion is reviewed as a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶13, 327 Wis.2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. While a circuit court's findings of fact are reviewed for clear error, "[t]he application of constitutional principles to those facts is a question of law" reviewed "de novo." *Id.* "The constitutional reasonableness of a search and seizure is a question of law" reviewed *de novo* and "without deference to the ruling of the circuit court." *State v. Nicholson*, 174 Wis.2d 542, 545 (Ct. App. 1993).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Circuit Court Erred by Failing to Address the Clear Fourth Amendment Violation: The Unreasonable Search and Seizure Inside Ms. Bertrand's Attached Garage.

Ms. Bertrand was unreasonably detained (seized) in her home's attached garage when Off. Duerwachter grabbed her arm to prevent her from entering her home's interior. *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 626 (1991) (stating that a person is seized when there is "a laying on of hands or application of physical force to restrain movement" and the person submits). The law is clear on this issue—"searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable." *See Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980); *Silverman v. United States*, 365 U.S. 505, 511 (1961) ("At the [Fourth Amendment's] very core stands the right of a man to retreat into his own home and there be free from unreasonable governmental intrusion."); *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 748 (1984) ("[P]hysical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed.").

Ms. Bertrand's detention amounted to an unreasonable seizure because it was conducted on her home's curtilage without a warrant. *See Collins v. Virginia*, 584 U.S. — , 138 S. Ct. 1663, 1670 (2018) ("[T]he Court considers curtilage—'the area immediately surrounding and associated with the home'—to be 'part of the home itself for Fourth

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Off. Duerwachter's use of physical force in grabbing Ms. Bertrand's arm to prevent her from entering her house also constituted an arrest. *See id.* ("An arrest requires *either* physical force . . . *or*, where that is absent, *submission* to the assertion of authority."). Probable cause lacked for that arrest. *See State v. Secrist*, 224 Wis.2d 201, 209 (1999) (defining probable cause to arrest).

Amendment purposes.") (quoting Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 6 (2013)). A home's attached garage falls within the home's curtilage; an attached garage is considered "the home itself." State v. Davis, 2011 WI App 74, ¶12, 333 Wis.2d 490 (collecting cases); State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶3, 372 Wis.2d 202; State v. Dumstrey, 2016 WI 3, ¶35, 366 Wis.2d 64 (collecting cases). Because Off. Duerwachter seized Ms. Bertrand without a warrant, the seizure was presumptively unreasonable. See Payton, 445 U.S. at 586. Further, "[a]s Payton makes plain, police officers need either a warrant or probable cause plus exigent circumstances in order to make a lawful entry into a home." Kirk v. Louisiana, 536 U.S. 635, 638 (2002). Here, there were no exigent circumstances. See Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 145 (2013) (holding that "the natural metabolization of alcohol in the bloodstream" does not present "a per se exigency"). The State did not argue otherwise in the circuit court, and thus the State has forfeited the argument on appeal. E.g., State v. Crute, 2015 WI App 15, ¶19, 360 Wis.2d 429. Moreover, probable cause lacked to detain Ms. Bertrand in her garage because, at most, Off. Duerwachter possessed uncorroborated third-hand knowledge that a school employee smelled the odor of alcohol on her breath.<sup>3</sup> (R.41:17, 22-24; App.17, 22-24).

Ms. Bertrand was also seized when Off. Duerwachter parked his squad car behind Ms. Bertrand's car, which she parked in her garage. See Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 255 (2007) ("The law is settled that in Fourth Amendment terms a traffic stop entails a seizure of the driver even though the purpose of the stop is limited and the resulting detention quite brief."); Dumstrey, 2016 WI 3, ¶17 (noting that an investigative stop under Terry is a "seizure"). The State conceded this during the motion hearing. (R.41:36; App.36). As here, "a seizure occurs if 'in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave." Id. (quoting United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980)). "A police officer may make a seizure by a show of authority

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Because a home's attached garage is considered "the home itself," there is no need to consider the *Dunn* curtilage factors. *See State v. Davis*, 2011 WI App 74, ¶12; 333 Wis.2d 490; *United States v. Dunn*, 480 U.S. 294, 301 (1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Even if Off. Duerwachter smelled the odor of alcohol on Ms. Bertrand's breath, that observation would still be insufficient to support probable cause.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "The moment of 'seizure' is critical for two reasons: (1) it determines when Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 protections become applicable; and (2) it limits the facts we may consider in evaluating whether [Off. Duerwachter] had reasonable suspicion to stop [Ms. Bertrand], which in turn affects whether [Off. Duerwachter] had probable cause to arrest [Ms. Bertrand]." *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶23, 294 Wis.2d 1.

and without the use of physical force." *Id.* at 254. A person is thus seized when there is "submission" to the "show of authority." *Id.* at 254. Here, Ms. Bertrand submitted to Off. Duerwachter's show of authority by not leaving the scene and by answering all questions asked of her.<sup>5</sup> (R.41:24-25, 30-31; App.24-25, 30-31).

Off. Duerwachter's entry into Ms. Bertrand's attached garage was also an unreasonable search. As here, "[w]hen a law enforcement officer physically intrudes on the curtilage to gather evidence, a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred." *Collins*, 138 S. Ct. at 1670 (citing *Jardines*, 569 U.S., at 11). "Such conduct thus is presumptively unreasonable absent a warrant." *Id.*; *see also United States v. Jones*, 565 U.S. 400, 404-05 (2012) (resurrecting the trespass doctrine and stating that a "search" occurs when "[t]he Government physically occupie[s] private property for the purpose of obtaining information."); *Davis*, 2011 WI App 74, ¶¶1, 14-15 (ordering evidence suppressed and concluding that "the officer unreasonably invaded the home's curtilage when he entered the attached garage."); *Corey v. State*, 739 S.E.2d 790, 795-96 (Ga. App. 2013) (holding that, under facts similar to the present case, officer's entry into defendant's garage to investigate OWI was an unreasonable search).

Although U.S. Supreme Court caselaw controls here, this Court should also consider *State v. Basler*, 2019 WI App 33, 388 Wis.2d 146, 2019 WL 2125122. (App.69). In *Basler*, officers responded to a report of a truck hitting a restaurant, and then they responded to the residence of the suspected driver—Basler. *Id.*, ¶2. (App.70). Once there, they observed Basler enter his house, and then the officers entered his enclosed front porch without a warrant, and they eventually arrested Basler for OWI. *Id.*, ¶¶2-5. (App.70-71). Because the officers did not have a warrant nor did exigent circumstances exist, *Basler* concluded that the officers conducted an unreasonable search when they entered

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Riley v. State, 892 A.2d 370, 374 (Del. 2006) (concluding that "when police approached [defendant's car] with their badges and flashlights, after having parked their police vehicle . . . so as to prevent [defendant] from driving away, a seizure had taken place") (emphasis added); State v. Jestice, 861 A.2d 1060, 1063 (Vt. 2004) ("[W]hen a police cruiser completely blocks a motorist's car from leaving, courts generally find a seizure. . . . [T]he fact that it was possible for the couple to back and maneuver their car past the patrol car and out of the trailhead parking lot does not convince us that this was a consensual encounter"); United States v. Jones, 678 F.3d 293 (4th Cir. 2012) (concluding that the officers seized the defendant because "two police officers in uniform in a marked police patrol car conspicuously followed Jones from a public street onto private property and blocked Jones's car from leaving the scene.") (emphasis added).

Basler's house. *Id.*, ¶1. (App.69-70). As applicable here, just as "Basler was entitled to close the door on the police and refuse to speak with them," so too was Ms. Bertrand. See id., ¶14. (App.76-77). However, similar to Basler, Ms. Bertrand "was not given an opportunity to utilize this right as the police were already in [her] home." See id. (R.41:25-28, 30; App.25-28, 30, 76-77). Rather than leave and "obtain a warrant and return," the officers detained Ms. Bertrand for field sobriety tests and ultimately arrested her. See id. (R.41:14; App.14, 76-77).

The search and seizure were unreasonable and all "fruits" should have been suppressed.<sup>6</sup> See Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 484 (1963); State v. Harris, 206 Wis.2d 243, 263 (1996); State v. Schneidewind, 47 Wis.2d 110, 118 (1970). In addition to the suppression of Ms. Bertrand's blood draw results, the officers' observations of Ms. Bertrand after the unreasonable search and seizure should also have been suppressed. The officers were not legally entitled to make such observations of Ms. Bertrand's appearance because "[t]he 'plain view' doctrine does not apply when officers are encroaching on a protected area." See Basler, 2019 WL 2125122, ¶13 n.4; Jones, 565 U.S. at 410 ("[T]he officers in this case did more than conduct a visual inspection. . . . [O]fficers encroached on a protected area."); Davis, 2011 WI App 74, ¶16 ("Because Zahn had no right to enter the garage, the plain view doctrine cannot apply to allow evidence of the firearm he later observed inside the foyer.").

#### II. The Circuit Court Erred by Finding Reasonable Suspicion to Support Ms. Bertrand's Seizure Because the Odor of Alcohol Alone is Insufficient to Provide Reasonable Suspicion.

If this Court finds that Off. Duerwachter did not unlawfully enter (search) Ms. Bertrand's garage and that he did not unreasonably seize Ms. Bertrand on her home's curtilage, this Court should find that reasonable suspicion lacked to support her detention and her arrest. E.g., Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968). Off. Duerwachter seized Ms. Bertrand based on uncorroborated third-hand knowledge (triple hearsay) of the alleged odor of alcohol on Ms. Bertrand's breath. (R.41:17, 22-24; App.17, 22-24). That was insufficient.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> To be clear, law enforcement violated Ms. Bertrand's reasonable expectation of privacy under Katz and committed a trespass under Jones. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347 (1967); United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. 400 (2012).

The odor of alcohol alone is insufficient to support reasonable suspicion to conduct a Fourth Amendment seizure. unwise, it is not against the law to drink and then drive." State v. Meye, 2010 WI App 120, ¶1, 329 Wis.2d 272, 2010 WL 2757312, (App.93-94). "Not every person who has consumed alcoholic beverages is 'under the influence'[.]" State v. Gonzalez, 2014 WI App 71, ¶13, 354 Wis.2d 625, 2014 WL 1810115 (quoting Wis. JI—Criminal 2663). "Instead, reasonable suspicion of intoxicated driving generally requires reasonable suspicion that the suspect is '[u]nder the influence of an intoxicant . . . to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving." Id. (quoting Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a)). (App.86). In discussing Wisconsin's OWI jurisprudence, State v. Meye emphasized that "[n]ot one of these cases has held that reasonable suspicion to seize a person on suspicion of drunk driving arises simply from smelling alcohol on a person who has alighted from a vehicle after it has stopped—and nothing else." 2010 WI App 120, ¶6, 2010 WL 2757312. (App.95).

There are at least three unpublished cases—and no published cases to the contrary—that have held that the odor of alcohol alone is insufficient to provide reasonable suspicion to conduct a seizure.<sup>7</sup> The first case is *State v. Meye. Id.* (Meye argues that the odor of intoxicants alone is insufficient to raise reasonable suspicion to make an investigatory stop. We agree.") (App.95). The second case is *County of Sauk v. Leon*, 2011 WI App 1, ¶¶13, 28-29, 330 Wis.2d 836, 2010 WL 4751761 (finding a lack of reasonable suspicion to detain defendant and conduct field sobriety tests based on no impaired driving, admission to consuming one beer, and the smell of alcohol) (App.61, 66-67). The third case is *State v. Gonzalez*, 2014 WI App 71, ¶¶1, 9, 2014 WL 1810115 (holding that officer lacked reasonable suspicion to conduct field sobriety tests based on the odor of alcohol alone) (App.81-82, 85).

This Court should join those three cases and find that the odor of alcohol on Ms. Bertrand's breath alone was insufficient to support reasonable suspicion to seize her. In this case, Off. Duerwachter detained Ms. Bertrand based off uncorroborated third-hand knowledge of the alleged odor of alcohol on her breath. (R.41:17; App.17). When Off. Duerwachter first spoke with Ms. Bertrand over the phone, he did not notice any signs of impairment—no slurred or slow speech or any type of discussion indicative of intoxication. (R.41:19-21; App.19-21).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> These cases are citable for persuasive value under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3).

Nor did Off. Duerwachter observe any impaired driving by Ms. Bertrand. (R.41:29; App.29). When Off. Duerwachter spoke with Ms. Bertrand in person, she denied consuming alcohol that day and he did not recall observing any slurred speech by Ms. Bertrand or anything else of concern. (R.41:24-25, 30-31; App.24-25, 30-31). Under these circumstances, Off. Duerwachter lacked reasonable suspicion to detain Ms. Bertrand. *See State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶11, 317 Wis.2d 118; *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21.

# III. The Circuit Court Erred by Finding Reasonable Suspicion to Support the Extension of Ms. Bertrand's Detention to Request Field Sobriety Tests.

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