Case 2019AP001240 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-24-2019 Page 1 of 22

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSINO-24-2019 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. 19-AP-1240

Lois M. Bertrand

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal of an order denying Defendant's motion to suppress evidence and judgment of conviction entered in the Circuit Court of Waukesha County, the Honorable Michael P. Maxwell Presiding. Trial Court Case No. 18CT1220

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Jack A. Pitzo
State Bar No. 1099951
Waukesha County District Attorney's Office
Waukesha County Courthouse
515 West Moreland Boulevard
Waukesha, Wisconsin 53188
(262) 548-7076

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

ARGUMENT

The sole issue on appeal is whether the circuit court poperly denied the suppression motion. In reviewing the circuit court's order denying a suppression motion, the court must review it in a two-part standard. *State v. Conner*, 2012 WI App 105, ¶ 15. First, the court must uphold the trial court's finding of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Second, the court must review whether those facts warrant suppression. *Id.*

I. OFFICER DUERWACHTER HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO TEMPORARILY DETAIN THE DEFENDANT IN ORDER TO INVESTIGATE A POTENTIAL DRUNK DRIVING INCIDENT.

The circuit court correctly determined that Officer Duerwachter had reasonable suspicion to believe that the defendant was operating while intoxicated when she was picking her son up from school and after. The United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution does not forbid all search and seizures. They forbid only unreasonable ones. U.S. Const. amend. IV; WI. Const. art 1 § 11. While the constitutions command that there must be probable cause to make an arrest, *Terry v. Ohio* allows officers to perform brief investigations with less than probable to determine if a person has committed a crime. 392 U.S. 1, 22 (1968). When an officer has

Page 11 of 22

reasonable suspicion to believe that criminal activity is afoot, a limited intrusion into an individual's privacy is permitted under the Fourth Amendment. Terry, 392 U.S. at 30. Here, under Terry, Officer Duerwachter reasonably detained the defendant because he had reasonable suspicion to investigate whether she had been operating her vehicle while intoxicated.

There was reasonable suspicion to temporarily detain Ms. Bertrand to investigate whether she had committed a crime. To justify a temporary detention, it must be supported by reasonable suspicion. Reasonable suspicion must be grounded in specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts that a person is or has violated the law. State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 8. What constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common sense test. *Id.* An officer, under the facts and circumstances, must be able to point to specific and articulable facts, when taken together with rational inferences from the facts, would reasonably warrant an intrusion. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 10. An officer must have more than a hunch, but less than probable cause and "considerably less than preponderance of the evidence. *United States v. Richmond*, 924 F.3d 404, 411 (7th Cir. 2019)(citing *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000)). The court, when making a reasonable suspicion determination, must look at the totality of the

Page 12 of 22

circumstances of each case to determine if the detaining officer had a particular and objective basis to suspect that a defendant committed a crime. *United States v. Arvizu*, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002).

From the first two reports alone, there was reasonable suspicion to believe that the defendant had committed an OWI offense. In determining if there is reasonable suspicion to investigate whether someone was operating while under the influence, an officer must be able to point to facts that the suspect is "[u]nder the influence of an intoxicant...to a degree which renders...her incapable of safely driving. See Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1)(1) and 346.01(1). First, Officer Duerwachter received a report from the principal that an employee smelled alcohol on the defendant when they spoke. Oral Rl'ing; 3: 16-18. While the defendant correctly notes that the odor of alcohol alone is not sufficient to contribute to a finding of reasonable suspicion, Officer Duerwachter corroborated the report by speaking with the defendant's ex-husband. Oral Rl'ing; 4: 4-6.1 Her ex-

¹ The defendant inappropriately relies on *State v. Meye* that held that odor alone is not sufficient to find reasonable suspicion. 2010 WI App 120 ¶ 6. While this case held that odor alone does not amount to reasonable suspicion, these cases does not address the facts at hand. Officer Duerwachter reported that he had more than odor alone as a basis for investigating an OWI complaint before even walking on the defendant's property. Therefore, this case is not persuasive. Oral Rl'ing; 4: 4-6. Further, it is in distinguishable as in the case, the only reason the officer performed a stop was because he smelled odor coming from either the driver, or passenger, but he could not determine which person. Here, there was significantly more

husband reported that Ms. Bertrand was extremely intoxicated, she had a drinking problem, and that she smelled like alcohol when he dropped her son off. Oral Rl'ing; 4: 4-6. Given this information, Officer Duerwachter has reasonable suspicion to investigate an OWI complaint.²

Reasonable suspicion is not limited only to personal observations made by a police officer. When appropriate, a thirdparty complaint can be reasonably relied upon to provide reasonable suspicion to investigate whether a crime has been committed. Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393, 397 (2014). By relying on two different reports that Ms. Bertrand was intoxicated and driving, Officer Duerwachter had reasonable suspicion to believe that she was operating while intoxicated. Additionally, because he had reasonable suspicion from the two reports, he did not need to observe more suspicious behavior. *Id.* at 404.

Additionally, it is not dispositive that Officer Duerwachter did not see suspicious driving when the defendant pulled into her

information that lead Officer Duerwachter to conclude that the defendant was operating while under the influence.

² The defendant selectively chooses the facts to make her argument. While it is true that Officer Duerwachter received such a report, it is not true that this report was uncorroborated. Her ex-husband, who had previously contact with her, reported to the officer that the defendant was extremely intoxicated. Oral Rl'ing; 4: 4-6. By misstating the facts, she mischaracterizes her argument, which therefore cannot be relied on.

driveway. The defendant suggests Officer Duerwachter failure to see any poor driving should negate a finding of reasonable suspicion, this is specifically not required under the law and that is mentioned in WIS JI CRIMINAL 2663. Additionally, an officer is not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior when making a determination to investigate suspicious behavior. *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25 ¶ 8 (*citing State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis.2d 77, 84 (1990)).

Given that there were two reports that suggested that the defendant was drinking and driving, Officer Duerwatcher formed a reasonable basis to believe that she had committed a crime.

Therefore, it was reasonable for him to begin an OWI investigation.

II. THROUGH FURTHER PERSONAL OBSERVATION, OFFICER DUERWACHTER HAD ENOUGH INFORMATION TO REQUEST THE DEFENDANT TO SUBMIT TO FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS.

Upon further investigation of the complaint, it was reasonable to detain the defendant and have her submit to field sobriety tests.

After an officer has made specific observations of impairment, he may request field sobriety tests. *Cty of Jefferson v. Renz,* 231

Wis.2d 293, 310 (1999) (the court found that it was reasonable to

have defendant submit to test based on speeding, smell of intoxicants, time of night, and admission of drinking).

Page 15 of 22

Before detaining a suspect to conduct field sobriety tests, an officer must have reasonable suspicion that the person has been driving after the person "has consumed a sufficient amount of alcohol to cause the person to be less able to exercise the clear judgment and steady hand necessary to handle and control a motor vehicle" *See* WIS. JI CRIMINAL 2663. *Cty of Sauk v. Leon*, 2011 WI App 1, ¶ 15, 330 Wis.2d 836, 794. The finding must be greater when an officer has not seen any bad driving. *Id. at* ¶ 20. (finding that there was virtually no admission of actual impairment based on the defendant's admission that he had one beer two hours previously, with dinner.)

Officer Duerwachter had more than enough information, based on the totality of the circumstances, to have the defendant submit to field sobriety tests without observing any bad driving. During his conversation with the defendant, he subsequently noticed signs of impairment that lead him to believe that she was operating while under the influence. During the evidentiary hearing, he testified that the defendant was evasive during the conversation, she admitted that she was drinking the night before, he smelled alcohol on her, and her eyes were glassy and bloodshot. *Oral Rl'ing*; 5: 2-6, 13-14.

Based on these observations, Officer Duerwachter concluded that the defendant was possibly too impaired to safely operate a vehicle, such that further investigation in the form of field sobriety tests were necessary. Because Officer Duerwachter had two separate reports amounting to reasonable suspicion to investigate an OWI complaint, and because he was able to corroborate those reports with his own personal observations, it was reasonable to have the defendant submit to field sobriety tests. Therefore, at no point during the investigation was the seizure unreasonable.

III. THERE IS NO REASONABLE EXPECATION OF PRIVAY AN IN AREA OF THE CURTILAGE THAT IS IMPLIEDLY OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

The circuit court did not err in finding that it was reasonable for Officer Duerwachter to investigate an OWI complaint on the defendant's driveway.³ The circuit court concluded that Officer Duerwachter encountered the defendant on her driveway before moving into the open garage. Oral Rl'ing; 4: 21-23. The defendant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy such that there was an unreasonable search nor seizure. While it is true that the protection of the Fourth Amendment extends to the curtilage, it is

³ The defendant argues that the conversation took place in the garage, but the circuit court found that the conversation started into the driveway and proceeded into the open-garage. Oral Rl'ing; 4: 21-23. Again, by failing to rely on the correct facts, she mischaracterizes her argument, thus calling into question the validity of her argument entirely.

also true that law enforcement is not completely prohibited from entering the curtilage. *Oliver v. United States*, 466 U.S. 170, 180 (1984), *State v. Davis*, (par 10)(*Citing State v. Edgeberg*, 188 Wis. 2d 339(Ct. App. 1994)). Furthermore, if an officer enters the home through a legitimate means of access, no search has occurred. *Edgeberg*, 188 Wis.2d at 347. Because Officer Duerwachter entered an area of the curtilage that was impliedly open to the public, it was reasonable for him to enter and investigate the OWI complaint without an unreasonable search or seizure occurring.

Law enforcement may enter the curtilage that is impliedly open to use by the public. *Edgeberg*, 188 Wis.2d at 347. In *Edgeberg*, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals found that an officer's entry onto a suspect's porch was reasonable because it was impliedly open to the public. *Id.* In *Edgeberg*, an officer responded to complaint at the defendant's house that a dog was barking. *Id.* at 342. When he arrived at the house, he walked onto a vestibule-like porch, which appeared to be the main entrance of the house. *Id.* at 343. The porch had a screen door entrance that a person would have to enter to get to another door that entered into the house. *Id.* at 344. When the officer approached the porch, he opened the screen door, he entered the porch, and went to the inner door. *Id.* When he went to knock on the inner door, he looked through the window and saw marijuana

plants in plain view. *Id*. The defendant challenged the seizure, and the court held that the defendant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the curtilage of his home. *Id*. at 347.

In its reasoning, the court found that a front door and the community practice of entering a porch to knock on the door suggests no expectation of privacy. *Id.* at 347. The court further elaborated that the common entrance of home offers implied permission to the public that negates any reasonable expectation of privacy. *Id.* at 347. Ultimately, the court held that when a piece is of curtilage is impliedly open to the public, and police have legitimate business, he may enter that portion of the property without violating a reasonable expectation of privacy. *Id.* at 347

The defendant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in her driveway. The circuit court affirmed that when he drove onto the driveway, he had reasonable suspicion to investigate for officer safety and to determine whether a crime had been committed.

Therefore, he had legitimate business in entering the property that was impliedly open like the police did in *Edgeberg*. Just as the court found no expectation of privacy in a common place of the curtilage in a porch, it is reasonable for the court to make the same decision here. A driveway is arguably more open to the public than a screened-in porch. Additionally, Wisconsin courts have repeatedly

found a police officer may come onto a driveway without violating an expectation of privacy. *See State v. Wilson*, 229 Wis.2d 256, 260-61 (Ct. App. 1999). Therefore, it was reasonable for Officer Duerwachter to investigate on the driveway.

Because the defendant had no reasonable expectation of privacy, Officer Duerwachter actions were reasonable. He entered the driveway that was visible and open to the public, and he remained there while he talked to the defendant until she retreated back into the garage. Because Officers Duerwachter was investigating a crime with reasonable suspicion, it was reasonable for him to speak with the defendant while she was on her driveway. Additionally, it was reasonable for him to continue into the garage with her as he continued his investigation. The defendant did not create a zone of safety simply by walking into garage as she suggests, nor did she ever suggest that he should leave the property to get a warrant. Therefore, his actions in detaining the defendant to submit to field sobriety tests were reasonable.

Case 2019AP001240 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-24-2019 Page 20 of 22

CONCLUSION

For all the reasons stated above, the state respectfully requests that the Court affirm the circuit court's denial of the defendant's suppression motion, and affirm the judgments of conviction.